1958

Lydia G. Ivie v. Dennis Waring Richardson : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

This case is before this court on appeal from the District Court of Salt Lake County, Case No. 113055. The cause was tried, submitted to a jury and a verdict returned for the plaintiff in the sum of \$5,000.00. Defendant's motion to set aside the verdict and enter judgment in accordance with defendant's motion for directed verdict was denied.

On June 9, 1956, plaintiff, a woman, purchased groceries at a store located on the northwest corner of 3rd South and 3rd East in Salt Lake City and then proceeded to walk north on the sidewalk on the west side of 3rd East Street with a child, her niece. She continued to walk north until she reached a driveway area leading from the main traveled portion of 3rd East Street westward over the sidewalk and into a public garage. (R. 1) and (Ex. 1) She stopped in front of the garage and observed the double doors to the garage were open. She lived just across the street (R.2) and knew cars frequently used this driving area going into and out of the garage. She looked at the open doorway and saw no cars at the threshold of the doorway, but did not look westward through the doorway into the garage to see if any cars were approaching from inside the garage. (R. 12, 13) She then turned eastward, left the sidewalk and proceeded several steps forward on the driveway with her back to the garage, (R. 3, R. 8) intending to jaywalk across 3rd East Street on her way to her home. (R. 9, 10) As far as she recalls she did not at any time look backward to see if an automobile was approaching prior to the time she was bumped from the rear by defendant's automobile (R. 14) which defendant was slowly backing out of the garage. (R. 19).

Plaintiff testified there were available to her several routes which she could have taken with equal convenience. (R. 16, 17) Had she taken one of them she would not have been injured. If she had walked on the curbed area instead of the driveway area just a foot or two south of the path she took, she would not have been hit. (R. 17) She could have proceeded from the grocery store directly east on a pedestrian crosswalk across 3rd East to the east-

side of the street and then north on the sidewalk to her home and the route would have been no farther than the one she attempted to take and this accident would not have occurred. (R. 14)

The defendant, a young man, was outside the United States at the time of the trial and a brief statement as to what his testimony would be were he to testify was stipulated to at pretrial and read into the record and was as follows:

“That he was backing out of his uncle’s garage at a speed less than 1 or 2 miles per hour and was crossing the sidewalk. He checked to see if any people were coming from either direction and then proceeded to back out. Previous, he looked out the rear window and saw no one. Just as he crossed the sidewalk he heard a child start to cry and immediately stopped the car. When he got out he saw a woman sitting down next to the car. The lady was in the blind spot between the back window and side window and he did not see her.” (R. 53, R. 54)

Plaintiff was struck by the left rear bumper of the car, knocking her down with her knee twisted under her. She got up and proceeded to walk across the street to her home. (R. 4) She had undergone an operation on her knee in 1950 and had the kneecap removed (R. 5, R. 30) and she was suffering some trouble with her knee from the time of that operation up to the time of this accident. (R. 7) The plaintiff’s doctor diagnosed her injuries resulting from this accident as contusion of the sacrum, sprain of the left knee and contusion of the left calf. (R. 30) The doctor believes that “an attempt should be made

by an operative procedure to improve the function of her knee.” (R. 32) She lost three days work as a result of the accident. (R. 29, R. 30)

STATEMENT OF POINTS

POINT I

THE PLAINTIFF WAS CONTRIBUTORILY NEGLIGENT AS A MATTER OF LAW.

A. Plaintiff was negligent per se because she violated a Utah statute applicable to pedestrians and her violation was a proximate cause of her injuries.

B. Plaintiff failed to maintain a proper lookout.

C. Plaintiff used a dangerous route when a safer route was available to her and equally convenient.

POINT II

TWO OF THE COURT’S INSTRUCTIONS WERE ERRONEOUS AND PREJUDICIAL AND THE COURT’S FAILURE TO GIVE ONE OF THE DEFENDANT’S REQUESTED INSTRUCTIONS WAS ERRONEOUS AND PREJUDICIAL.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE PLAINTIFF WAS CONTRIBUTORILY NEGLIGENT AS A MATTER OF LAW.

A. Plaintiff was negligent per se because she violated a Utah statute applicable to pedestrians and her violation was a proximate cause of her injury.

Plaintiff’s conduct constituted negligence per se because in walking on the driveway at the place and in the

manner in which she was so walking she was violating *Sections 41-6-79 and 41-6-82, Utah Code Annotated, 1953.*

“41-6-79. Pedestrian Shall Yield Right of Way
(a) Every pedestrian crossing a roadway at any point other than within a marked crosswalk or within an unmarked crosswalk at an intersection shall yield the right of way to all vehicles upon the roadway.”

“41-6-82. Walking Along or Upon Roadways—Standing in Roadway for Prohibited Purposes:
(a) Where sidewalks are provided, it shall be unlawful for any pedestrian to walk along and upon an adjacent roadway.”

The Court’s instruction to the jury revealed that the Court gave no credence to defendant’s contention that the driveway involved was *not a private* driveway, but *a part of the public street, a part of the roadway* concerning which the traffic rules and regulations of the Motor Vehicle Act of the State of Utah were applicable; that the plaintiff was not *about* to “jaywalk,” but that she was *already jaywalking at the time of the accident.*

The public street or highway includes sidewalks on each side of the roadway and all the area between the sidewalks. (*Sec. 41-6-8 (d). U. C. A. 1953*). The sidewalk is the part of the public street set aside for pedestrian travel and all areas between the sidewalk which are “designated or ordinarily used for vehicular travel” (*Section 41-6-8 (c). U. C. A. 1953*) are a part of the public “roadway.” Therefore, the place at which the plaintiff was struck was part of the public roadway, and while there, plaintiff was (1) committing a misdemeanor (*Section 41-*

6-82 (a)) ; (2) was obligated to yield the right of way to a vehicle traveling thereon (*Section 41-6-79 (a)*).

The following statutory definitions support the position of the defendant:

"41-6-7 (a) Street or Highway. The entire width between the boundary lines of every way publicly maintained when any part thereof is open to the use of the public for purposes of vehicular travel.

"(b) Private Road or Driveway. Every way or place *in private ownership* (emphasis supplied) and used for vehicular travel by the owner and those having express or implied permission from the owner, but not by other persons.

"(c) Roadway. That portion of highway improved, designed or ordinarily used for vehicular travel, exclusive of the berm or shoulder.

"(d) Sidewalk. That portion of *a street* (emphasis supplied) between the curb lines, or the lateral lines of a roadway, and the adjacent property lines intended for the use of pedestrians."

From the foregoing definitions, I think it is patent that the plaintiff at the time she was struck was (1) on part of the public roadway; (2) she was at that location illegally; and (3) in that location she was obligated to yield the right of way to vehicular traffic.

I do not think the clear language of the statutes requires judicial interpretation to achieve the above conclusion. There are no Utah cases exactly in point covering a perfectly analogous fact situation. The only case in the books I have been able to find, the facts of which render it directly in point on this proposition, is a recent

Wisconsin case, *Brunette v. Bierke*, 72 N. W. (2) 702, decided in November, 1955.

That case involves a fact situation which I think is almost identical with the situation in the case at bar, and as to the motor vehicle statutes involved, one is the same in substance as the Utah statute and the other is identical to the Utah statute.

The Wisconsin case is an action for injuries sustained by a pedestrian who was struck by an automobile backing out of a service station. The trial judge rendered judgment dismissing the complaint and the plaintiff appealed. The Supreme Court held that for right of way purposes, a concrete "apron" *extending from sidewalk line to curb line and constructed to provide convenient approach for motorists to the service station* constituted a part of the highway, and the pedestrian owed the duty to yield to the vehicle right of way over such apron. I have underlined certain words above to emphasize the similarity between the facts in that case and the facts in the case at bar.

On pages 704 and 705 of the opinion, the court stated as follows:

"On the other hand, sec. 85.10(21) provides that 'a highway is every way or place of whatever nature open to the use of the public as a matter of right for the purposes of vehicular travel', and sec. 85.44(4) provides that 'every pedestrian crossing a highway at any other point than a marked or unmarked crosswalk shall yield the right of way to vehicles upon the highway.' The apron was 'open to the use of the public as a matter of right for the purposes of vehicular travel'; its very purpose was to provide a convenient approach by motorists to

the service station. It was open to use by the public 'as a matter of right' because the right of the public to use a street for purposes of travel extends to the entire width of the street, to its whole surface, 25 Am. Jur. 461; Chase v. City of Oshkosh, 81 Wis. 313, 51 N. W. 560, 15 L. R. A. 553. Peters was not on a crosswalk when he was struck. Thus by the provisions of secs. 85.10(21) and 85.44(4) the motorist, not the pedestrian, appears to be given the right of way.

"(2) The word 'sidewalk' is ordinarily used to designate a portion of a highway which has been set apart for pedestrians as distinguished from that which is used by vehicles, 2 Bouv. Law Dict., Rawle's Third Revision, p. 3068. Manifestly the apron was not intended for use by pedestrians; an adequate 5-foot strip of concrete was provided for them. The apron was constructed to provide a convenient approach for motorists to the service station, to replace or as a substitute for an elevated curb and boulevard which would constitute an obstacle to entry to the station. It was the obvious intent of the legislature to grant to the pedestrian the right of way at places at which they are usually found, upon sidewalks as that term is universally understood. We do not consider that it was intended by the legislature to extend the area in which the rights of pedestrians over the motorist are recognized. We can perceive no reason for so doing. On the contrary, it would be absurd to contend that the apron was constructed for any purpose other than to accommodate the motorist. It was constructed primarily, if not exclusively, for his easy passage to the station. We must assume that the legislature had these well-known facts in mind when enacting the statutes and that they did not intend that a pedestrian should be given more fa-

avorable consideration than is to be given a motorist when the pedestrian is found in a place where he should not be, or where foot-travelers are not ordinarily found. We think therefor that for the purpose of determining who has the right of way, sec. 85.44(5) must be construed as granting to the pedestrian the right of way over the motorist only when he is upon that portion of the sidewalk which is set apart for him, in this case the 5-foot strip immediately adjacent to the service station property, that the apron is to be considered as a part of the highway as defined in sec. 85.10(21), and that since the jury might properly have found that Peters was upon it when he was struck, it was his duty to yield the right of way and that it was proper for the trial court to instruct the jury as it did."

If a Utah Court interprets the motor vehicle statutory provisions involved as they were interpreted by the Wisconsin Court (and I think such interpretation is compelled by the clear wording of the statutes), then I do not see how a Utah Court could avoid reaching the same result in the case at bar as was reached by the Wisconsin Court in the case before it.

If we take the point of view of the Wisconsin Court and conclude that the motor vehicle law of Utah is applicable, in other words, that the plaintiff was at the time of the accident located on part of the public roadway, then certain declarations of the Utah Supreme Court become strikingly pertinent.

Mingus v. Olsen, 201 P. (2) 495 (Utah, 1949) is a case in point.

In that case a man and his wife started to cross Thirteenth East in Salt Lake City near its intersection with

Westminster Avenue. They were proceeding in an unmarked crosswalk that extended over Thirteenth East. The defendant's automobile struck the man and he was killed. The court granted defendant's motion for directed verdict "on the grounds that the evidence showed that, as a matter of law, plaintiff's decedent was guilty of contributory negligence."

The court said:

"As to whether or not decedent was within the crosswalk at the time of the collision, there is a conflict in the evidence. For purposes of this appeal, we must assume that deceased was in the crosswalk at the time he was struck. The crucial question is whether decedent failed to keep a proper lookout for approaching traffic."

(That is certainly one of the crucial questions involved in the case at bar).

On the subject of lookout, the Court said on page 498:

"More convincing than the direct testimony that deceased did not look, is the further evidence that deceased neither said nor did anything to indicate that he was at all aware of the danger presented by defendant's approaching automobile. He seems to have been wholly unaware of its approach. Certainly he did nothing either to warn his wife, nor to rescue either himself or her from their position of peril. On this evidence, it must be said as a matter of law that deceased either failed to look, or having looked, failed to see what he should have seen.

"(4, 5) There can be no doubt that a pedestrian who undertakes to cross a busy street of a large city, without first observing for vehicular

traffic is guilty of contributory negligence. And this is true, even though he may be crossing in a crosswalk, and have the right of way. In the recent case of *Hickok v. Skinner*, Utah, 190 P. 2d 514, this court held that a motorist who had the right of way across an intersection, nevertheless had a duty to observe for traffic as he proceeded across the intersection. *The rights of pedestrians to the use of the public streets are the same as those of motorists — neither greater nor less.* Hence, the same general duties devolve upon them. A pedestrian crossing a public street in a crosswalk or pedestrian crossing a public street in a crosswalk or peway over vehicular traffic, nonetheless has the duty to observe for such traffic. Clearly, decedent neglected that duty in this case. It follows that he was contributorily negligent as a matter of law. Of course we do not mean to imply that a mere glance in the direction of the approaching automobile would suffice. The duty to look has inherent in it the duty to see what is there to be seen, and to pay heed to it.” (Emphasis supplied)

If it is true, as Justice Wolfe said in the *Mingus* case, that the “rights of pedestrians to the use of the public streets are the same as those of motorists—neither greater nor less,” then the plaintiff in the case at bar was certainly contributorily negligent. If it was negligence for the defendant Richardson to fail to keep a proper lookout for the plaintiff (and the jury obviously decided it was), then it was negligence on the part of the plaintiff to fail to keep a proper lookout for the defendant’s automobile. If we assume the defendant was negligent, even though his testimony was that he did examine the area behind him through the rear vision mirror, then certainly the plaintiff was negligent when, according to her testimony, she does not

recall maintaining any lookout whatsoever to her rear for an approaching vehicle as she proceeded down the driveway.

I submit that even if the driveway involved were a private driveway, under the fact circumstances appearing from the plaintiff's own testimony in this case, the plaintiff was at least as negligent as the defendant, and therefore was contributorily negligent as a matter of law. When a pedestrian is walking in an area which she knows is primarily designed and used for vehicular traffic, she certainly owes some duty to maintain a reasonable lookout, and there can be no question but that her failure to maintain a lookout was a proximate cause of her injuries in this case.

Smith v. Bennett, 265 P. (2) 401 (Utah, 1953) also is a case in point. There also a pedestrian was struck while crossing a public roadway. In this case, unlike the Mingus case, and I submit similar to the case at bar, the plaintiff was not in a marked or unmarked crosswalk. This is another case in which the defendant was awarded a directed verdict on the grounds that the plaintiff was contributorily negligent as a matter of law. A particularly significant statement of the court was this:

"By attempting to cross the street in disregard of safety rules, she (plaintiff) was charged with a *high standard of care*, (emphasis supplied) the duty being commensurate with the perilous circumstances."

In the case of *Sant v. Miller*, 206 Pac. 2d 719 (Utah 1949) the court was concerned with a pedestrian who had been injured while crossing a street at a place contrary to

law. While doing so he failed to keep a proper lookout and the court said:

“Having omitted to continue to watch, he failed to exercise the degree of care required of a pedestrian who leaves a place of safety and places himself in a position of peril. A greater degree of care is necessary upon the part of a pedestrian who undertakes to cross a city street at a prohibited place than is placed on one who uses a marked crosswalk.”

I submit that in the case before the court the plaintiff left a place of safety, to-wit, a sidewalk and placed herself in a position of peril, to-wit, in an area which was designed for the use of vehicular traffic. She omitted to continue to watch and, therefore, failed to exercise the degree of care required of such a pedestrian. Furthermore, she undertook to cross a city street at a prohibited place and “A greater degree of care is necessary upon the part of a pedestrian who undertakes to cross a city street at a prohibited place than is placed on one who uses a marked crosswalk.”

Later the court said:

“Because of the violation of the quoted ordinance and statute, appellant was on the street at a prohibited place, and under these circumstances, he was required to constantly observe the movement of traffic from the direction it should legally travel.”

B. Plaintiff failed to maintain a proper lookout.

Even if we do not rely on the statute discussed under A, we can rely wholly on common law negligence. It is the defendant's contention that the plaintiff in walking

along an area designed for vehicular traffic without ever glancing back to see if an automobile was approaching was negligent in that she failed to keep a proper lookout, indeed any lookout whatsoever, for cars which she should reasonably have anticipated might have been approaching from the rear.

Even if the plaintiff had been walking on a private driveway, which was not part of a public road, she should have, in the exercise of ordinary care, maintained a more vigilant lookout than she did in this instance. She would be expected to foresee the possibility of approaching automobiles even on a private driveway, which driveway primarily existed for the purpose of accommodating vehicular traffic.

C. Plaintiff used a dangerous route when a safer route was available to her and equally convenient.

Plaintiff's testimony clearly reveals that to be a fact. The negligence of such conduct is recognized in *Anderson vs. Mammoth Mining Co.* 93 P. 190 (Utah 1907).

POINT II

TWO OF THE COURT'S INSTRUCTIONS WERE ERRONEOUS AND PREJUDICIAL AND THE COURT'S FAILURE TO GIVE ONE OF THE DEFENDANT'S REQUESTED INSTRUCTIONS WAS ERRONEOUS AND PREJUDICIAL.

The Court's Instruction No. 4 was as follows:

"If you find from a preponderance of the evidence that the defendant failed to keep and maintain a proper lookout for the plaintiff in the drive-

way where the accident occurred and that such failure proximately resulted in the accident, then your verdict must be in favor of the plaintiff and against the defendant.”

This instruction is obviously erroneous due to the fact that it is a formula instruction directing the jury to find a verdict for the plaintiff if the circumstances exist as set forth in the instruction yet in the instruction there is no provision made for the affect of contributory negligence. In other words, if the jury finds that the defendant was negligent then the jury is bound by that instruction to render a verdict in favor of the plaintiff and is not required, or indeed permitted, to give any consideration to contributory negligence of the plaintiff.

The same type of error is committed in Instruction No. 10, which reads as follows:

“You are instructed that the law in force in the State of Utah on the 9th day of June, 1956, which relates to the operators of motor vehicles was as follows:

“1. That the driver of a vehicle within a business or residential district emerging from any alley, driveway or building shall stop such vehicle immediately prior to driving on to a sidewalk or into the sidewalk area extending across any alleyway or private driveway and shall yield the right of way to any pedestrian, as may be necessary, to avoid collision, and upon entering the roadway shall yield the right of way to all vehicles approaching on said roadway.

“2. The driver of a vehicle shall not back the same unless such movement can be made with reasonable safety and without interfering with other traffic.

“You are instructed that if you find by a preponderance of the evidence that the defendant violated either one or both of the above provisions then you are instructed that such violation would amount to negligence upon his part and you are further instructed that if you find that such violation was made and that the same was the proximate cause of the happening of the incident in question and the resulting injuries to the plaintiff then and in that event you would find the issues of negligence and proximate cause in her favor and proceed to assess such damages as you find by a preponderance of the evidence she would be entitled to.”

The part of Instruction No. 10 which defendant contends is erroneous is the last paragraph of the same. Again the court has given a formula instruction in which he directs the jury to find that the defendant was negligent if it believes that the defendant violated either one or both of the statutes, and then directs the jury in that event to proceed to assess damages against the defendant. The court in that instruction makes no reference to or provision for the affect of contributory negligence.

Instructions Nos. 4 and 10 are inconsistent with Instructions Nos. 4a and 5 and could result only in confusion in the minds of the jurors and I submit that Instruction No. 4a and Instruction No. 5 do not correct the errors contained in 4 and 10 and do not alleviate the prejudice resulting from those erroneous instructions.

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