1958

Lydia G. Ivie v. Dennis Waring Richardson : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I

ON APPEAL FROM A FINDING AGAINST THE
APPELLANT THE EVIDENCE MUST BE CON-
STRUED MOST FAVORABLY TO THE RESPOND-
ENT AND AGAINST THE APPELLANT.

It is well settled law that on an appeal from an adverse verdict the Court must presume that the jury construed the testimony and resolved all conflicts in the evidence in favor of the respondent and in reviewing the jury's finding must construe the evidence most favorably to the respondent and against the appellant, and plaintiff-respondent is entitled to every reasonable inference to be drawn from the evidence. *Ware v. Nelson*, 88 N.W. 524; *Simpson v. Hillman*, 97 P. 2d 527; *Thompson v. Fiorito*, 9 P. 2d 989; *Lord v. Western Union*, 74 P. 2d 220.

POINT II

THE PLAINTIFF WAS NOT CONTRIBUTORILY
NEGLIGENT.

a) *The plaintiff violated no statute which
would bar recovery as a matter of law.*

The statutes cited by the appellant have no application to the facts of this case. The appellant complains that the Court did not give consideration to his conten-

tion that the spot upon which the respondent stood was part of the public roadway. The respondent offered no evidence to prove or tend to prove that the spot upon which respondent stood was part of a public highway or even that the adjacent drive strip was part of a public highway instead of a private driveway. The record is completely silent on this point. The inference in the absence of evidence must be to the contrary, for the jury so held and the Trial Judge fully considered this question when defense counsel argued this point on his motion for a new trial and submitted his memorandum to the Court to support this contention.

Section 41-6-8(d) U.C.A. 1953 cited by appellant to show the spot where plaintiff was standing as part of the public roadway defines what a *Business District* is and does not have anything to do with the question of public or private roadway. 41-6-8(c) U.C.A. 1953 applies to marked safety zones such as those set apart in a roadway for passengers to wait for a streetcar or bus and also does not apply to these facts.

The plaintiff in this action was standing still on a curbing adjacent to a drive apron and thus 41-6-79 U.C.A. 1953 does not apply. This statute applies only to persons crossing a roadway. We cannot speculate on whether this statute might have applied to show negligence had the plaintiff actually proceeded into the public roadway — those facts are simply not before the Court on this appeal.

The plaintiff was not standing upon or walking along a public roadway and hence 41-6-82 U.C.A. 1953 cited by appellant as an act prohibited by law does not here apply. The statute prohibits “*walking along and upon an adjacent roadway.*” There can be no question on this record that at the time the plaintiff was struck she was not even *walking*, and was not *upon a roadway*.

The appellant in his efforts to pull the respondent into and upon a public roadway cites statutory definitions 41-6-7(a), (b), (c) and (d). (See appellant’s brief, p. 6) He argues from a combination of these definitions that the entire area between the sidewalk and the paved street is therefore a part of the public roadway. It is obvious that the area adjoining the spot on which the respondent stood is a dirt and grass filled area between the sidewalk and the street curb. Certainly it would lead to a curious result to hold that a person standing upon his lawn watering it between a sidewalk and a curb could be struck by a negligent driver driving out of the street and over the curb, and be barred from recovery because he was by statutory definition upon a public roadway. Such a result was never intended by the legislature nor is the statute amenable to such a construction even by the most strained construction.

In the case before this Court the plaintiff was standing on the curbing adjoining the driveway and the defendant-appellant allowed his car to get out of control, swerving south into the plaintiff-respondent who had

every right to stand where she was standing. The fact argued by appellant that she was considering crossing the street at a point other than the corner intersection does not bear upon the issues in this case. *The fact is she had not crossed the street and was not struck in the course of crossing the street*, hence her intention is not material. She might well have changed her mind before venturing into the street.

It should be noted in concluding the consideration of this point that there is no evidence in the record to even show where the “adjacent property lines” as defined by 41-6-7(d) were located and the Court cannot presume without evidence that the spot where plaintiff-respondent stood was not private property adjoining a private driveway.

It should further be noted that 41-6-7(c) defines a roadway as “That portion of highway improved, designed, *or ordinarily* used for vehicular travel, exclusive of the berm or shoulder.” (Ital. supplied) The testimony is clear and must be taken as true for purposes of this appeal that plaintiff was not on the portion of the alley “*designed or ordinarily used for vehicular traffic*,” but on the contrary she was standing on the shoulder which was not ordinarily used for vehicular traffic:

“Q. Can you all see the picture. You came down this edge here?

A. Yes.

Q. Now is there an area of concrete beyond the driveway portion?

A. Yes, there is.

Q. And is that the area you were upon?

A. Yes.

Q. And where was your little niece standing?

A. She was standing on the curb in the gutter.

Q. In the gutter. Now could you determine after the accident whether the car had backed straight out the alleyway or had curved?

A. It had curved.

Q. And if it had proceeded on would it have stayed on the concrete?

A. No. It would have been on the dirt.” (R. 35, lines 2-16)

“Q. Counsel makes somewhat a play on words, Mrs. Ivie, about what is driveway and what isn’t driveway. There is an area south of here and north of here that the vehicles do not drive upon, isn’t that true?

A. Yes, it is.

Q. And were you down beyond the area where the vehicles ordinarily drive?

A. Yes.

Q. That is all.”

RECROSS EXAMINATION

“By MR. BERTOCH :

Q. You say vehicles don’t drive on this area, Mrs. Ivie?

A. Not normally in that area.

Q. Well this vehicle drove on it?

A. Yes.

REDIRECT EXAMINATION

“By MR. HYDE:

Q. This vehicle wasn't driving normally was it, Mrs. Ivie?

A. No.

“MR. BERTOCH: No further questions.” (R. 35, lines 2-22)

Since on appeal from the finding of the lower Court this testimony must be taken as true, she was not on a portion of a highway ordinarily used for vehicular travel and therefore even if there had been evidence in the record that she was on the edge of a public drive, she was not on the portion ordinarily used by vehicles. Her testimony as to this stands uncontradicted. The case of *Brunette v. Biecke*, 72 N.W.(2d) 702 involved a Wisconsin statute not at all like ours. It defined a highway as “every way or place of *whatever nature* open to the use of the public as a matter of right for the purpose of vehicular traffic.” 88.44(4) Wisconsin Statutes. (Emphasis supplied) Our statute limits the definition to the area of the highway *ordinarily* used for vehicular traffic. In this case the plaintiff was standing where only an automobile out of control could have struck her. A person standing on a curb not ordinarily used for vehicular traffic need not anticipate that a car driven by a driver who loses control as a result of reaching for his sun glasses will back into her.

b) *The question of negligence in this case was a question for the jury.*

Whether or not plaintiff kept a proper lookout is entirely an issue for the jury which the jury in this case resolved against the defendant.

The plaintiff testified that she looked to see if any car was coming out of the garage and saw none. (R. 10) The fact that she looked away and failed to see the car backing out is not negligence as a matter of law.

In the case of *Millay v. Town Taxi Co.*, 136 N.E. 127, 242 Mass. 314 the facts were similar to the facts in this case. There the plaintiff was standing not at the edge but *in* a public driveway talking to a friend at a point where the sidewalk crossed the driveway. The defendant *backed* his cab out of the driveway and struck the plaintiff. The defendant contended just as in this case that the plaintiff failed to keep a proper lookout and was therefore guilty of contributory negligence as a matter of law. On appeal the Appellate Court said:

“It could not have been ruled as a matter of law that the plaintiff was careless. . . . He also had a right to assume that travelers by automobile would not without giving some possible warning, run him down. . . . *The case was properly submitted to the jury and the exceptions must be overruled.*” (Ital. supplied) *Millay v. Town Cab Co.*, 136 N.E. 127, 242 Mass. 314.

In *Bourman v. Hutchinson*, 245 N.W. 596, 124 Neb. 188, the plaintiff was in an alley washing windows when

struck. The Court held the plaintiff was not contributorily negligent.

The argument of counsel that a safer route was available to plaintiff does not make plaintiff negligent as a matter of law in this case. Had she been struck in the roadway perhaps this could be argued — at least to a jury. In this case she was standing on the edge of a concrete curb bordering the driveway. She doubtless would have been safer in bed but it would be incredible to contend that as a matter of law since there were safer places to be that plaintiff was negligent as a matter of law.

In *House v. Brandt*, 185 Atl. 628, 323, Pac. 52, the plaintiff was walking past a truck in an alley. The truck started up and injured plaintiff. The defendant on appeal argued that the plaintiff could have taken a safer route to his destination. The Appellate Court said:

“A person who uses a street or highway that is thrown open for public travel, knowing that at the time there is a safer route which he may take to reach his destination . . . is not necessarily guilty of negligence because he does not take the safer route.” *House v. Brandt*, 185 Atl. 628, 323, Pa. 52.

In a recent well-written case the Michigan court treated the problem of contributory negligence and set out the modern trend of decisions. In that case the plaintiff was crossing a public road 250 feet south of an intersection and was not within a crosswalk. He was struck

after he had reached the middle of the road by the defendant. The jury held for the plaintiff and the Trial Judge granted Judgment N.O.V. on the ground that the plaintiff was negligent as a matter of law. The Supreme Court reversed the Trial Judge and in doing so said:

“It is not debatable that plaintiff’s observations and/or his deductions therefrom were inadequate for his protection. If our test for contributory negligence was whether or not plaintiff had done all that he conceivably could have done, or even all that, in retrospect, it is obvious he should have done for his own safety, no negligence action could ever be maintained . . . *This court should not leave the pedestrian a legal sitting duck.*” (Ital. supplied) *Ware v. Nelson*, 88 N.W. 2d 525. (Michigan 1958)

POINT III

NO PREJUDICIAL ERROR WAS COMMITTED BY THE COURT IN INSTRUCTING THE JURY.

The appellant excepts to the giving of Court’s instructions Nos. 4 and 10 on the ground that these instructions set out conditions upon which the plaintiff may recover but do not set out that plaintiff is bound if she is guilty of contributory negligence. All of the Court’s instructions must be read together as a whole to determine if the jury was adequately instructed.

In instruction No. 2 the Court explained twice that even if the plaintiff was otherwise entitled to recover,

if contributory negligence was found, she would be barred from recovery by reason of such negligence.

Instruction No. 4 must be read together with instructions 2 and 4(a) which clearly limited 4 to a recovery only on conditions that no contributory negligence was found. The Court, if anything, over-emphasized the issue of contributory negligence by repeating the charge that plaintiff would be defeated by any negligence on her part in instructions Nos. 2, 5 and 6.

These instructions are in harmony with the instructions given for the instructing of juries by the Committee for Jury Instruction Forms for Utah. That Committee said at page XVI:

“NO INSTRUCTION STATES ALL THE LAW

In many instances instructions must be given in connection with others to give an accurate picture of the legal principles involved. *A notable example of this is where there is an issue of contributory negligence. It seems needless repetition to include the proviso ‘unless you find against the plaintiff on the issue of contributory negligence,’ in the various instructions stating the basis upon which the plaintiff could recover. This should be kept in mind and instructions given together which are necessary to supplement each other.’* J.I.F.U. Page XVI. (Ital. supplied)

The Trial Judge certainly followed this admonition to the letter and to avoid needless repetition instructed separately on the issue of contributory negligence. The jury was told in instruction No. 2 that if the jury found contributory negligence they must find for the defendant

and against the plaintiff. Again immediately after instruction 4 the Court again repeated and admonished the jury that if the plaintiff did not keep a proper lookout the jury must find against her. To make this proposition crystal clear the Court added instruction 5 telling the jury that if both were "to a degree negligent" the plaintiff could not recover. It is hard to imagine a more complete and full explanation of all the circumstances that would defeat the plaintiff.

The appellant has not seen fit to include in his designation of record the defendant's requested instructions and they are thus not before the Court on this appeal, and his contention that the Court committed error in not granting one of these cannot be considered on appeal. *Dayton v. Free*, 148 P. 408, 46 U. 277; *Perry Ins. Co. v. Thomas*, 278 P. 535, 74 U. 193.

CONCLUSION

There is no evidence to justify this Court in holding the plaintiff-respondent negligent as a matter of law. The injury to the plaintiff was not the proximate result of the violation of any statute nor can it be held under the evidence that she was negligent as a matter of law.

The Court's instructions taken as a whole correctly advised the jury as to the law of the case. The verdict and judgment should be affirmed.